## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 3 1992

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

DOMINICK DEANGELO,	<b>)</b>	
Appellant,	, ,	
vs.	CASE NUMBER	78,499
STATE OF FLORIDA,	<b>,</b>	
Appellee.	<b>'</b>	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite C Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 1990, the Orange County Sheriff's Office arrested Dominick Deangelo, the Appellant, and charged him with the second-degree murder of Mary Price.' (R785-6) On May 11, 1990, the State filed an information charging Deangelo with second-degree murder. (R789) On June 5, 1990, the Orange County grand jury indicted Deangelo for the first-degree murder of Price. (R793)

Defense counsel filed numerous pre-trial motions. Only some

Section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1989).

of these are pertinent to this appeal and will be addressed individually in the argument portion of the brief. Just before the trial commenced, Deangelo rejected a plea offer that would have netted him a life sentence. (R5-6)

On April 15, 1991, the case was tried by jury before the Honorable Richard F. Conrad, Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida. (R907-910) The guilt phase including jury selection, lasted only three days.

At **the** conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal contending that the evidence established, at most, second-degree murder. (R462) The trial court denied the motion at that time (R462) and again when the motion was renewed. (R477)

During deliberations, the trial court granted the jury's request to rehear the testimony of Joy Deangelo. (R541-78)

After resuming deliberations, the jury returned w th a verdict finding Dominick Deangelo guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in the indictment. (R1034) The trial court subsequently denied Deangelo's motion for new trial. (R1035-37)

A penalty phase was held on May 28, 1991. (R59 -780,1055-56) The State relied on the evidence presented at the guilt phase and presented no further testimony or evidence. (R596) Deangelo presented three witnesses in mitigation. (R597-731) The State presented no rebuttal evidence. (R732)

Deangelo requested numerous special penalty phase jury instructions, all of which the trial court denied. (R733-

37,1063-92) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation (7 to 5) that Dominick Deangelo be executed.

(R774,1093)

On July 23, 1991, the trial court sentenced Dominick Deangelo to death by electrocution. The trial court found only one aggravating circumstance (heightened premeditation). The trial court considered sixteen mitigating circumstances proposed by the defense. The court found that Dominick Deangelo suffered from organic personality syndrome, organic mood disturbance, and a bipolar disorder. The trial court also concluded that the testimony of Dr. Berland substantially supported a finding that Deangelo's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired at the time of the offense, and that Deangelo was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at that time. However, the trial court found that the "totality of the evidence" did not seem to support Dr. Berland's conclusion that his ability to conform his conduct was substantially impaired or that he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. The trial court did find in mitigation that Deangelo's mental health disorders were treatable. The trial court also found that the murder was not committed for financial gain, that Deangelo did not create a great risk of death to many people, that the murder did not occur during the commission of another crime, that Dominick Deangelo was not a drifter, and that the

Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes.

victim was neither a stranger nor a child. However, the trial court concluded that these particular elements in mitigation were entitled to little or no weight. The trial court did find in mitigation that Deangelo had served as a volunteer fireman; that he served his country in the military; and that he cooperated with police and confessed to the killing. Additionally, the trial court found that the evidence supported the conclusion that conflict existed between Deangelo and the victim³ over her failure to make rent payments as well a5 her hedonistic lifestyle. The trial court concluded that the one aggravating circumstance outweighed the numerous mitigating circumstances and ordered that Dominick Deangelo be electrocuted until dead.

(R1133-46)

On August 13, 1991, Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R1150) On August 22, 1991, the State filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal. (R1160)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court noted that the fact that the victim rented a room in a trailer owned by the defendant did not, in and of itself, create a domestic situation, but acknowledged conflict.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## GUILT PHASE

In 1989, Dominick Deangelo managed Playmates bar in Orlando. Playmates featured "live nude girls" dancing for the enjoyment of patrons. Joy Dalene Mason went to work at Playmates as a dancer and, in the process, met Dominick. Joy and Dominick married on July 10, and Joy gave birth to Dominick's son, Michael, on March 9, 1990. (R303-5) During the spring of 1990, Joy befriended Mary Price, another dancer at Playmates. (R305-8) Mary left Playmates and became a dancer at House of Babes. (R307-8)

During the spring of 1990, Joy, Dominick and Michael began to visit Mary Price at her home everyday. (R306-7) The Deangelos came to know Mary's husband and five small daughters. (R305-8) Shortly thereafter, Mary's husband and children left the Orlando area. Dominick, Joy and Michael moved into Mary's house and helped with the rent. During the middle of April, 1990, the Deangelos and Mary all moved into a trailer. (R308-9)

Dominick and Joy Deangelo knew Mary Price for only three months before Price's death. (R328) Even though they all lived together, the Deangelos did not know Mary Price by her real name. They knew her only as "Chris" and were unaware of her last name. (R327-8,360-1)

Dominick Deangelo and Mary Price had a stormy relationship.

There were numerous discrepancies as to when and where each woman plied her trade. Needless to say, each made the "rounds" of the numerous adult-oriented bars in central Florida.

He had problems with her from the beginning. Mary drank to excess and was probably an alcoholic. She smoked marijuana and imbibed in cocaine on a regular basis. Dominick particularly objected that Mary was frequently drunk and used drugs in the presence of his wife and son. (R394) Another sore point between the two of them was Mary's inability to pay her portion of the rent in a timely fashion. (R331) Dominick also objected to Mary's sexual promiscuity. She had a habit of bringing home a different man every night. (R332) At least one of Mary's "dates" was an armed fugitive. (R393) Dominick did not appreciate Mary bringing these unsavory characters into his home.

Things got progressively worse between Dominick and Mary. Sexual tension developed. One evening, about a week before the murder, Joy Deangelo woke up, realized that Dominick was not in bed, got up, and caught Dominick making sexual advances upon intoxicated Mary Price. (R310-11,316)<sup>5</sup>

When Joy told Dominick to leave Mary alone, Dominick became angry and told Joy to "shut up." (R311-14) After Joy went back to bed, Dominick later woke her up. He had socks on his hands and, at knife-point, forced Joy to go into Mary's room and hold a blanket over her head as she slept. Dominick told Joy that he wanted to choke Mary but could not go through with it. (R314-16,408) Dominick told Joy to go back to bed and warned her to tell no one of the incident. (R316)

Approximately four days later, Dominick left Orlando and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This was apparently not an isolated incident. (R338)

went to New Jersey for three days. (R316-17) Joy picked

Dominick up from the train station early Saturday afternoon.

After stopping by the trailer, Dominick dropped Joy off at the

House of Babes where she was then working. (R316-18) Joy's

shift ran from 4:00 p.m. Saturday afternoon until 4:00 a.m.

Sunday morning. (R318) Dominick returned to the trailer about

5:30 p.m. Saturday afternoon. (R392) Mary had been in Daytona

Beach all day with three men. (R317,392-3) Dominick

particularly wanted to scold Mary for leaving a window open and

screens unlatched. (R393) Dominick was worried about the

security of the trailer. He also wanted to discuss Mary's habit

of smoking dope and bringing fugitives to the house. (R393)

About 7:30 p.m. Saturday, Mary arrived at the trailer.

Three men in a 1984 Aries waited for her outside. (R395)

Dominick attempted to discuss the security problem, but Mary complained that she was late for work. (R395) Promising that she would pay him her half of the rent that night, she left for work. (R395)

Shortly before Dominick left the trailer to pick up Joy from work, Mary arrived home from work alone. (R396-98) Before leaving, Dominick told Mary that he wanted to talk to her and asked her to please stay awake. (R398) On the ride back home, Dominick and Joy discussed their financial problems and the necessity for Mary to pay her fair share. (R334,399) Once they arrived at the trailer, Joy went into Mary's bedroom and talked with her for approximately thirty minutes. (R335,399) Joy then

went to bed around 5:30 a.m. and Dominick stayed up, watched T.V., and pondered his financial plight. (R399)

Dominick eventually went into Mary's room intending to discuss the situation. She slept in a sleeping bag on the floor and Dominick woke her. (R400) Mary "copped an attitude right away." Dominick asked her about her share of the rent which was due on Monday. Mary claimed she had made no money that night. Dominick accused her of lying. (R401) The argument escalated, and Dominick began discussing extraneous matters. He brought up her promiscuity, her drunkenness, and her dope-smoking. Dominick attempted to speak softly in order to avoid waking his wife and baby. (R401) Mary tried to stand up so that she could slap Dominick. (R401,404) He grabbed her arm and slapped her face. (R401,404) Mary started yelling louder. (R401) At this point, Dominick just wanted her to "shut up." (R402) He remembered grabbing Mary's face by the chin in an attempt to close her mouth and quiet her. (R402) The next thing he knew, Mary was lying there, dead on the floor. (R402)

Dominick returned to his bedroom and, intending to take a walk, got out a pair of socks. (R403) Dominick became very scared. Joy woke **up** and asked Dominick what he was doing with his socks. (R403) Dominick told Joy, "The bitch has lied to me for the last time." (R321) He then told Joy that Mary was dead. (R321-22,404)

Later that morning, the Deangelo family went to  $th\,e$  flea market. (R324,405) At this point, Dominick explained that he

still was unsure of his plan of action. (R405) Joy knew that she had to inform the police. (R324) While Dominick was otherwise occupied at the flea market, Joy drove down Orange Blossom Trail, flagged down a deputy sheriff's car, and told him the entire story. (R325-26,354-59,364-66)

market. Deangelo readily identified himself and voluntarily accompanied Detective Gonzalez to the closest police station.

(R359-62) Deputy Gonzalez transported Deangelo to the station, where he was interviewed by Detective Riggs-Gay. (R381-86)

After being advised of his constitutional rights, Dominick Deangelo freely waived those rights, and gave a voluntary statement to the police. In the tape-recorded statement played to the jury (R386-407), Deangelo admitted that he got into an argument with Mary that escalated into a physical confrontation. The next thing Deangelo remembered, Mary Price was dead. "I didn't mean to do it. You hear that a million times....It's a situation that shouldn't have happened." (R406-7)

An autopsy of Mary Price revealed a substantial amount of marijuana in her system. (R431-33) The medical examiner testified that the cause of death was asphyxiation as a result of combined manual and ligature strangulation. (R427) Several bruises and abrasions found on Price's face could have been caused by a slap or some other kind of blow to the head. (R423-26,445,451)

#### PENALTY PHASE

At the penalty phase, the State chose to rely entirely on the evidence presented at the guilt phase. They presented no other evidence in aggravation and did not present any rebuttal evidence. (R596,732)

Dennis Deangelo, Appellant's younger brother, told of his own ministry in the area jails. Dennis had been involved in such work for approximately three years. (R597-99) Since Dominick's arrest, Dennis had had a chance to minister with Dominick in the Orange County Jail. (R599) Dennis was using Dominick's unfortunate set of circumstances in his ministry. Dennis testified that Dominick was, at this point, very open to the gospel. (R603) Since his arrest, Dominick had calmed down and "mellowed out." (R602) His brother opined that Dominick now realized that life is serious, and one cannot continue on the road of destruction and sin. (R602)

All five of the Deangelo children were born in Long Island, where their parents lived. (R599) While attending school, Dominick had some difficulties with alcohol and general misconduct. (R605) At one point he went with his parents to seek counseling. (R605) In Long Island Dominick was a volunteer fireman for the West Sable Fire Department. (R599-600; Defense Exhibit #2) He donated his time for at least two years in this manner. (R600) When Dominick was sixteen, the family relocated to Orlando. Dominick attempted to catch on with a fire department. Due to the shortage of volunteer departments in

Florida, Dominick was unsuccessful in locating a position. (R600)

In the early 1980's, Dominick volunteered for the Army. He served four years, some in Ft. Bragg and some in Germany. (R600) Dominick married a German woman and moved back to Florida where they lived with his parents for a year or two. His wife became pregnant, divorced Dominick, and moved back to Germany. (R601, 606) His ex-wife still keeps in touch with Dominick and his family. (R601) However, Dominick has never had a chance to see his seven-year-old son in person. (R601,606)

Dominick's employment history was admittedly sporadic.

(R608-9) Dennis explained that his brother was a hard worker who would keep a job for a while before moving on. (R602) When Dominick left the adult entertainment business, he completed trucking school, returned to Orlando, and got a driving job. (R603)

After his arrest, Dominick Deangelo completed numerous classes offered at the county jail. He attended 720 hours in one program. He worked his way through a twenty-five chapter automotive book and completed that course in approximately 450 hours. He also completed a series of computer courses, and scored 100% in seven areas. (R617; Defense Exhibit #1) After completing courses, Deangelo volunteered to assist in administrative and clerical work. (R616) His teacher testified that he was very helpful. (R617) The teacher explained that Deangelo was always willing to participate. (R617)

Dr. Robert Berland, a licensed psychologist, testified for the defense. There are approximately 24,000 psychologists in Florida. (R626) Dr. Berland is one of only a dozen board-certified forensic psychologists in the state of Florida. (R620-28) Dr. Berland is also an expert in malingering and is able to ferret out individuals who are faking mental disorders. (R627,632) The State accepted Dr. Berland as an expert witness without objection. (R629) Dr. Berland conducted a clinical chorodiagnostic evaluation on Dominick Deangelo. He also conducted a clinical/legal evaluation. Dr. Berland also gave Deangelo several tests including the MMPI<sup>6</sup> and most of the subtests contained in the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. (R633-42)

The MMPI showed clear indications that Deangelo suffered from a paranoid disturbance that he was making a concerted effort to hide from the doctor. (R642-43) Deangelo also suffered from a significant amount of depression. (R644) The tests also revealed a significant amount of anti-social thinking. (R644) Dr. Berland admitted that he would routinely refer patients for treatment, if their scores mirrored those of Deangelo. (R645) Dr. Berland found no evidence of malingering. (R645-46)

The Wechsler test revealed an IQ of 113. (R647) This placed Deangelo in the average range. The test also revealed evidence of significant impairment, specifically bilateral brain damage. (R649-50) Dr. Berland explained that, at some point in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Minnesota Multi-Phasic Personality Inventory.

Deangelo's life, something happened to the tissue on both sides of his brain. Such damage has an obvious effect on brain functioning. (R650) Dr. Berland explained that people with this type of damage tend to become paranoid, manic or depressive, even where the injury is not severe. (R650)

Deangelo admitted to a number of hallucinations. (R650-1)
The doctor also found that Deangelo had delusional paranoid
beliefs and mood disturbance, all of which are characteristic and
suggestive of psychotic disturbance. (R652) Deangelo admitted
to a number of auditory hallucinations that began when he was
seventeen. (R652) Deangelo also suffers from visual and tactile
(feeling things biting your skin) hallucinations. (R652-3) He
also had bouts of manic episodes. (R653-4) Dr. Berland
explained that Deangelo's illness effected his perception. He
exhibited distorted judgment in everything he attempted in life.
(R655-6)

Dr. Berland concluded that Deangelo suffered a psychotic disturbance which was initiated by an apparent injury to brain tissue when he was quite young. In addition to two severe bouts of pneumoni, Deangelo consumed an entire bottle of aspirin at age three. Pneumonia can result in a reduction of oxygen to the brain. As a result, he was hospitalized for seven to ten days. An overdose of aspirin creates a toxic result which affects the oxygen supply to the brain. Additionally, Deangelo experienced an estimated six episodes of extremely high fever as a child. These went undetected for quite some time. (R602,661-2) All of

the evidence indicated that, at a very young age, Dominick suffered from an organic personality syndrome and an organic mood disturbance. Dr. Berland characterized both of these as psychotic disorders caused by brain damage. (R661-2)

Dr. Berland also found evidence that Deangelo was suffering from a latent onset of an inherited disorder, i.e., a bipolar disorder (formerly called a manic-depressive psychosis), (R662-3) This particular mental illness causes unstable moods, paranoid thinking, episodes of depression or mania, intensified hallucinations and delusions, irritability, explosiveness, and chronic anger. (R663-4) All of this resulted in Deangelo exercising poor judgment in many situations. (R664) Slight insults would make him explode in anger. (R664)

Dr. Berland concluded categorily and without equivocation that, at the time of the murder, Dominick Deangelo was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (R665-6) The doctor also opined (also within a reasonable degree of medical certainty) that, although Deangelo did appreciate the criminality of his conduct during the murder, his ability to conform that conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (R666-7) If treated with medication, Deangelo would no longer be a danger to society. (R712)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes.

Section 921.141(6)(f), Florida Statutes.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: The trial court found one aggravating circumstance, i.e., that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. Initially, Deangelo argues that this particular aggravating circumstance is unsupported by the evidence. The evidence is much more consistent that Deangelo killed Price in a fit of passion after the two argued, once again. This Court has disapproved a finding of this aggravating circumstance in cases with much more egregious facts than this one. The State failed to meet its burden of proving this aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. Tracking this aggravating factor leaves no aggravation. Price's killing was the culmination of a long-standing domestic dispute. As a result, Deangelo's death sentence cannot stand.

The trial court also erred in rejecting uncontroverted, unrebutted statutory mitigating circumstances. The only psychologist to testify, stated without equivocation that, at the time of the murder, Deangelo was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance and that his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. The trial court rejected the unrefuted evidence that the two statutory mental mitigators applied to Deangelo's case. Additionally, Appellant submits that the trial court employed an erroneous standard in doing so.

Additionally, the trial court accepted fourteen nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. However, the trial court concluded

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