IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 2 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By-Chief Deputy Clerk

DOMINICK DEANGELO,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

CASE NO. 78,499

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/ CROSS APPEAL OF APPELLANT

> > ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

DeAngelo's testimony contradicts Dr. Berland's Joy conclusion DeAngelo was extremely emotionally disturbed substantially impaired at the time of the murder. She saw DeAngelo bath before and after the murder, and her portrayal is one of a man calmly taking care of business. Immediately after the murder DeAngelo calmly announced "[t]he bitch has lied to me for the last time", then took Joy to see his handiwork (R 321). DeAngelo was happily smoking cigarettes and acting as if nothing had happened while going through Mary's belongings (R 323). Dennis DeAngelo, the appellant's brother, testified DeAngelo's only problem in school was one time he had to see a counselor about alcohol and misconduct (R 605). DeAngelo simply got in with the wrong crowd (R 607).

Deciding whether particular mitigating circumstances have been established and, if established, the weight afforded it lies with the trial court, and a trial court's decision will not be reversed because an appellant reaches the opposite conclusion. <u>Daugan v. State</u>, **17** F.L.W. **S10** (Fla. Jan. **2, 1992); <u>Sireci v.</u> <u>State</u>, 587 <b>So.2d** 450 (Fla. **1991);** <u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). The credibility of a witness is to be assessed by the trier of fact which, when finding whether mitigating circumstances are established, would be the judge. <u>See, Carter</u> <u>v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1166, 1168 (Fla. 1990); <u>Gunsby v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1991). Dr. Berland's testimony - that the mental disorders necessarily established the two statutory mitigating circumstances even though Dr. Berland had no information on mental state at the time of the murder - was incredible. The trial court properly rejected the statutory mitigating circumstance. <u>See</u>, <u>Bruno v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 76, 83 (Fla. 1991); <u>Valle v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 40, 48 (Fla. 1991).

Although DeAngelo complains of the trial court's findings, the trial judge was extremely liberal in his consideration of mitigating circumstance. The judge **gave** nonstatutory mitigating weight equal to statutory mitigation (R 1141). The trial judge considered as nonstatutory mitigation the following:

- 1) the killing was not for financial gain
- 2) it did not create a great risk of death to many persons
- 3) it did not occur while the defendant was committing another crime
- 4) the defendant was not a drifter
- 5) the victim was not a stranger
- 6) the victim was not a child

# (R 1142-43).

The state is not required or expected to present evidence on all aggravating circumstances. To consider the absence of an aggravating circumstance as mitigation is inappropriate **as** would be considering the absence of a statutory mitigation **as** aggravation. Considering as mitigation whether the victim as a child or stranger is also inappropriate. If it **were** appropriate,

defendants could present evidence all day with who the victim was The focus is on aspects of a defendant's life. Evidence is not. mitigating if in fairness or in the totality of the defendant's life or character, it may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed. Wickham v. State, 16 F.L.W. S777, 778 (Fla. Dec. 12, 1991), citing Rogers v. State,, 511 So.2d 526, 534 (Fla. 1987) (emphasis Therefore, even if the trial judge erred in failing to added). consider two statutory mitigating circumstances, he considered five nonstatutory mitigating circumstances which he should not have considered, and gave nonstatutory mitigators the same weight as statutory mitigating circumstances. Imposing a death sentence is a weighing, not a counting process. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d Even if the trial judge erred in rejecting 1 (Fla. 1973). mitigation, he also erred in including mitigation. In the present case, the death sentence was justified.

# Nonstatutory Mitigating Circumstances

The trial judge found certain nonstatutory mitigation received little or no weight. As previously discussed, five of the six factors should not have been considered as mitigating and the sixth, that DeAngelo was not a drifter, can hardly be considered anything more than society expects of the average individual. <u>See, Zeigler v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 127, 130 (Fla. 1991).

The trial judge did not err in giving little **or** no weight to the enumerated nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. <u>See</u>, <u>Shere</u> v, State, 579 So.2d 86, 96 (Fla. 1991).

- 13 -

# Proportionality

DeAngelo claims his death sentence is disproportionate. Proportionality review is not a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but is a thoughtful deliberate review to consider the totality of the circumstances in a case and compare it with other capital cases. Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990). Although DeAngelo advises this court it has never affirmed **a** death sentence where cold, calculated and premeditated is the only aggravating circumstance, the number of aggravating circumstances established is not the question. The question is how, considering the totality of the circumstances, the case compares to other capital cases<sup>2</sup>

DeAngelo compares this **case** to <u>Songer v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1989). In <u>Songer</u> a trooper approached a car, a volley of shots rang out, and the officer fell dead. The trial court found Songer was under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance, substantially impaired, twenty-three **years** old, felt sincere remorse, was dependent on **drugs**, adapted well to prison life, helped others, had an emotionally deprived upbringing, had a strong influence on his family and developed strong spiritual standards. This court found <u>Songer</u> may be the least aggravated and most mitigated case to undergo proportionality analysis. <u>Id</u>. at 1011. DeAngelo also compares his case to <u>Fitzpatrick v.</u> <u>State</u>, 527 **So.2d** 809 (Fla. 1988). At the time of his crime,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In counting the aggravating circumstances, DeAngelo fails to recognize that heinous, atrocious and cruel was improperly rejected (see cross-appeal).

Fitzpatrick was completely out of control, He had a history of delusions. Not only were the two statutory mental mitigators established, but it was also proven Fitzpatrick had an emotional age between nine and twelve years old and was "crazy as a loon". A neurologist testified Fitzpatrick had extensive brain damage. Id. at  $812^3$ .

Penn v. State, 574 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1991) and McKinney v. State, 579 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1991), cited by DeAngelo, are likewise unavailing. Penn beat his mother to death after consuming six to seven pieces of crack cocaine. Penn had no significant history of prior criminal activity and acted under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance. In light of Penn's heavy drug use and his wife telling him his mother stood in the way of their reconciliation, this court found the case disproportionate. Id. at 1083. Similarly, McKinney had no significant prior history, had mental deficiencies, and a drug and alcohol history. Id. at DeAngelo's murder was senseless and shocking. He coldly 85. eliminated a human being with no more thought than swatting a He strangled her both manually and with a ligature then fly. happily rifled her belongings. There were no signs of extreme disturbance or substantially impaired capacity before or after the murder and the manner of death supports a cold, calculated plan, not an emotional frenzy or fit of rage. The cases cited by DeAngelo are distinguishable and occurred during an impetuous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This court noted that the aggravating circumstances of heinous, atrocious and cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated were "conspicuously absent" seeming to indicate these aggravating factors carried great weight. These are the two aggravating factors that should have been applied in DeAngelo's case.

emotional incident, not one in which **a** defendant **prepares** to slowly drain the life from a victim and calmly proceeds to **do so.** 

This case should be compared to those cases in which the defendant intentionally and with forethought, eliminates the object of his concern. <u>See</u>, <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1988); <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1989); <u>Bowden v.</u> <u>State</u>, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991); <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1991); <u>Wickham v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S777 (Fla. Dec. 12, 1991); <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S762 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1991); <u>Gunsby v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1991); <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. S74 (Fla. Jan. 23, 1992); <u>Reichmann v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991); <u>Young v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990). THE JURY'S DEATH RECOMMENDATION WAS NOT TAINTED BY EVIDENCE OF NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES; THE ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

DeAngelo claims the prosecutor, on cross-examination of Dr. Berland, elicited testimony regarding lack of remorse. He concedes trial counsel did not object. This issue is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, **495** So.2d **744, 747** (Fla. **1986**); Clark v. State, **363** So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

The issue has no merit. On direct exam Dr. Berland said DeAngelo had a significant **amount** of anti-sociopathic kind of thinking (R 644). The antisocial personality was explored on cross-examination (R 710-12). The language cited by DeAngelo as error occurred on cross exam. What DeAngelo does not cite is the language which precedes the mention of remorse which shows it was Dr. Berland who first started talking about DeAngelo as being a person who doesn't "feel the need to follow the rules and laws of society. When he wants things, he's going to have to want to get his way without benefit of his rules at times" (R 727). The state did not initiate the discussion regarding remorse, nor did the prosecutor ever say "remorse", When questioned about DeAngelo's antisocial characteristics, it was Dr. Berland who first mentioned remorse and said he didn't assess that area. The only questions regarded whether remorse was an aspect of a person's psychological make-up. The questions then turned to whether antisocial people have little concern for others or the rules and whether DeAngelo had an antisocial personality (R 727-

- 17 -

28). There was no direct questioning regarding whether DeAngelo felt remorse. The theme of the questioning was whether DeAngelo had an antisocial personality. Dr. Berland was a defense witness, and any questioning by the prosecutor was in rebuttal to direct or redirect exam after the defense opened the door to this line of questioning. <u>See, Hodges v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. S74, 75 (Fla. Jan. 23, 1992); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1990); <u>Draqovich v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986).

Furthermore, Dr. Berland diagnosed DeAngelo **as** having an antisocial personality. Dr. Berland referred to the DSM III (Diagnostic and Statistic Manual of Mental Disorders) in his discussion (R 682, 692, 693). The diagnostic criteria for antisocial personality disorder in the DSM III includes lack of remorse. Diagnosis and Statistic Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition - Revised, 1987, **p. 346**. Therefore, even though the prosecutor did not specifically question the doctor about lack of remorse, the doctor had opened the door for him to do so. Any testimony regarding lack of remorse was invited. <u>See</u>, <u>Cruse v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 983, 991 (Fla. 1991).

DeAngelo's allegations based on <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d **998** (Fla. 1977) that evidence of antisocial personality is impermissible since it is **a** nonstatutory aggravating factor, are unavailing since it was the defense that **first** introduced this evidence. The prosecutor's cross-examination on **the** subject was invited. Furthermore, <u>Elledge</u> had nothing to do with introduction of evidence of an antisocial personality but rather involved whether a conviction was "prior" for the purpose of admitting it as an aggravating circumstance.

- 18 -

Error, if any, was harmless in light of the fact it was Dr. Berland, the defense witness, who categorized DeAngelo as antisocial and lack of remorse is a characteristic of that See, Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331, 338 (Fla. diagnosis. 1990); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1987). Lack of remorse was not a part of any finding by the trial court and did not affect the death sentence. See, Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983). See also, Menendez v. State, 368 So.2d 1278, 12 (Fla. 1979) (trial court found lack of remorse as n. aggravating factor). Jones v. State, 569 So,2d 1234 (Fla. 1990) is distinguishable. In Jones, the state not only called a law enforcement officer for the express purpose of testifying the defendant showed no remorse, but the prosecutor directly commented on lack of remorse. Here, any inference of lack of remorse did not rise to the level of specificity required to warrant resentencing. See, Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595, 602 (Fla. 1991). Viewed in the context of Dr. Berland's testimony, any error was harmless. See, Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450, 454 (Fla, 1991); Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 46 (Fla. 1991).

### POINT III

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR THE IN INSTRUCTING ON HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL OR COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED, OR IN DENYING SPECIAL AND INSTRUCTIONS, JURY THE INSTRUCTIONS ON HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL AND COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

DeAngelo claims the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the aggravating circumstances of heinous, atrocious and cruel since the trial judge ultimately did not find this aggravating circumstance. He also claims cold, calculated and premeditated was not established so the trial judge erred in instructing on that aggravating circumstance. DeAngelo argues the standard instruction on heinous, atrocious and cruel is unconstitutionally vague. Finally, he claims the trial court erred in rejecting specially requested instructions on cold, calculated and premeditated and heinous, atrocious and cruel.

There was no objection to the instructions and the issue is waived. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So,2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

This aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated and premeditated was supported by the evidence and the instruction was **proper (See** Point I). The aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel was established by the evidence and should have been found by the trial court (See cross appeal).

Even though heinous, atrocious and cruel was not found by the trial court it was not error to instruct the jury on it. Evidence of this factor was presented at trial, and a trial court is **required** to instruct on all aggravating and mitigating factors an which evidence is presented. <u>Bowden v. State</u>, **588** \$0.2d **225** (Fla. 1991); <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 558 \$0.2d 416 (Fla. 1990). The evidence was sufficient to present a jury question on heinous, atrocious or cruel. <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 561 \$0.2d 248 (Fla. 1990).

The reason the instruction on heinous, atrocious and cruel was error in Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1990) was because there was no evidentiary support for the instruction and there was evidence improperly presented regarding sexual battery on the corpse. Id. at 1238. This court explained that in many cases the fact the trial court did not make a factual finding of the factor in his sentencing order would obviate any error. Id. at **1238.** This court **also** found the error not harmless in Omelus v. State, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1991), because the state emphasized heinous, atrocious and cruel during the penalty phase. In fact the only state witness at Omelus' penalty phase was the medical examiner and the prosecutor vigorously argued the details. Id. at 566-67. In the present case, the prosecutor **touched** on heinous, atrocious and cruel but did not overemphasize it (R 740-41). His argument basically restated the facts. Defense counsel argued the murder was not heinaus, atrocious and cruel because the victim was asleep and stoned (R 764-65). The defense argued the victim could have been awake as little as thirty seconds (R 765). Error, if any, was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1987).

Unconstitutionally Vague Instructions

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